IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

JEREMY THOMAS STEVENS,

Petitioner

APPEAL FROM DIVISION II OF THE COURT OF APPEALS #46905-7-II

PETITION FOR REVIEW

WAYNE C. FRICKE WSB #16550

HESTER LAW GROUP, INC., P.S. Attorneys for Petitioner 1008 South Yakima Avenue, Suite 302 Tacoma, Washington 98405 (253) 272-2157

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jeremy T. Stevens, petitioner, respectfully requests that this Court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision in case number 46905-7-II terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Mr. Stevens respectfully requests that this Court review the Court of Appeals' decision, affirming the trial court's decision in this case.

A copy of the decision from the Court of Appeals, Division II, terminating review which was filed on March 1, 2016 is attached as Exhibit "A".

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's decision upholding the convictions when the charges were not supported by evidence as to the alleged occurrence when the state chose to base its charges on specific dates?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in upholding the efficacy of allowing convictions on an expansive date range for each charge, without a *Petrich* Instruction, when the state had chosen to proceed on specific, identifiable acts occurring on specific identifiable dates?

3. Did the Court of Appeals violate petitioner's due process rights when it upheld an instruction defining "prolonged period of time" that this Court has already concluded is an instruction that is improper?

4. Whether the to-convict instructions allowed for convictions that were inconsistent with the actual charges and the state's decision to elect a specific act for purposes of conviction?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

Mr. Stevens was charged with six counts of rape of a child in the first and second degree, all involving SMN. Additionally, he was charged with a single count of child molestation in the third degree and sexual exploitation involving SMS. CP 44-52. After the presentation of the evidence and while preparing instructions outside the presence of the jury, the prosecutor indicated he intended to rely on a single act for each count involving the individuals and the court instructed the jury accordingly. RP 689:18–690:19; CP 174 (Instruction Number 6). It reads as follows:

In alleging the defendant committed the crimes of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and/or Rape of a Child in the Second Degree. The State relies upon evidence regarding a single act constituting each count of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and/or Rape of a Child in the Second Degree. To convict the defendant on any count of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and/or Rape of a Child in the Second Degree you must unanimously agree that this specific act was proved.

This instruction was given after the state initially offered a "Petrich" instruction, changed its mind, and stated that it would be relying on specific acts for specific counts. RP 711:21–715:3. While the defense conceded the prosecutor could choose to elect, it objected to the "to-convict" instructions covering an expansive time period, as opposed to a single event. RP 715:9–717:4; CP 181-183. (See

attachments 1-3; Instructions 13, 14 & 15). As a result, the defense took exception to the giving of the instruction, as well as objecting to the court's failure to give a *Petrich* instruction¹. RP 718:12-15.

Almost immediately, the state then began an argument that was virtually at odds with the very election instruction it had proposed and received. RP 725-735. Rather than electing conduct for a particular charge, it argued that counts III and IV were alternatives to counts I and II. RP 734:19–735:18. The defense objected. RP 735:19-21. After hearing argument, the court then allowed the state to argue these as alternatives, describing counts I and III as the "birthday incident" and counts II and IV as the "babysitting incident". RP 747:1-13. Count V was designated as the "fair incident" and count VI as the "pre-Thanksgiving incident". RP 747:18-25. Counts VII and VIII, which involve SMS, correspond to the "fair incident".

During deliberations, the jury sent five separate notes to the court for clarification involving the counts. CP 163-165; 209-10. One of the questions involved the very issue noted above, wherein the jury asked if counts 3, 4, 5, and 6 corresponded to specific incidents, to which the court responded in the affirmative that the jury had to address specific conduct in counts III-VI. CP 163. A subsequent note again demonstrated confusion as to what the state was required to prove as it related to count III (the "birthday incident"). CP 210.

¹ State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 693 P.2d 173 (1984). WPIC 4.25. The [State] [County] [City] alleges that the defendant committed acts of (identify crime) on multiple occasions. To convict the defendant [on any count] of (identify crime), one particular act of (identify crime) must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, and you must unanimously agree as to which act has been proved. You need not unanimously agree that the defendant committed all the acts of (identify crime). WPIC 4.25.

The jury ultimately found Mr. Stevens not guilty of two counts of rape of a child in the first degree (counts I and II), rape of a child in the second degree as charged in count VI (pre-Thanksgiving incident), as well as child molestation in the third degree as charged in count VII. He was found guilty of rape of a child in the second degree as charged in counts III, IV and V and sexual exploitation as charged in count VIII. The jury also answered "yes" to the special verdict form alleging aggravating factors for counts III-V. CP 205-07. The aggravating factor in this case was that there were multiple instances over a prolonged period of time. CP 259-260. The actual special verdict forms read, "Did the defendant, Jeremy Thomas Stevens, engage in an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse with the victim SMN?" CP 205-07.

Based on the aggravating factor, Mr. Stevens was sentenced above the guideline range to a minimum term of 320 months in prison based on the jury's finding that an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse occurred. CP 245-260. The actual sentencing range was 210-280 months. CP 259.

B. Facts

Jeremy Stevens met SMN when she was a young child. He was a friend of her mother, Shannon Chapman. The friendship evolved into an affair which ended in animosity. It was after the end of this relationship that Mr. Stevens was stung by these allegations, which included allegations that he was having a sexual relationship over an extended period of time with SMN.

Specifically, SMN testified that she began having sex with Mr. Stevens on the day of her 11th birthday in April 2012. RP 361:5-6. She was born on April

28, 1999. RP 173:21-23. The accusations were made to the investigating agency in the spring of 2013 when she was in the eighth grade, just prior to turning 14 years of age, as acknowledged by her step father, Sean Chapman. RP 175:1-25. Prior to this time, beginning in 2012, when she was beginning junior high school, she began to grow apart from her parents, she confided in Mr. Stevens, who then informed the Chapmans. RP 186:1-187:8. No other problems were apparent. RP 187:8-10. The first time Mr. Chapman had any indication that there was anything unusual going on between his step-daughter and Mr. Stevens was around Thanksgiving in 2012, when his wife, Shannon Chapman, mentioned it. RP 187:14-23. It was just after Mr. Stevens became a long haul trucker beginning in the fall of 2012. RP 188:9-13. This was immediately after the Kitsap Fair, when she had stayed at the Stevens' family residence. RP 190:9-12. As Mr. Chapman testified, the last time his step-daughter stayed at Mr. Stevens' residence to babysit was prior to him becoming a trucker. RP 189:19-29.

SMIN's statements differed dramatically as to the when and how long the alleged abuse started, saying it lasted over a period of three years, starting on her birthday and the next time happening a couple of weeks later. RP 382:20-24; RP 369:1-6. She referenced her 11th birthday as to when it happened. RP 361:5-6. She remained consistent that the birthday she was referring to was when she turned 11 years of age and she never deviated from that date. RP 411:14-25.

She was, however, consistent that any abuse occurred when Mr. Stevens worked at Waste Management and rented a particular residence known as the Bielmeier residence. RP 414:11-23. Her mother, Shannon Chapman, confirmed this period of time. RP 265:19-24. Mr. Stevens rented the residence from October 2011 thru May 2013. RP 634:13-15. His belongings were moved out after his then girlfriend, Brandi Jo McKenzie, was found staying in the residence and was kicked out by the Chapmans after an argument including severe name calling. RP 617:16-622:10.

While she testified that there were multiple instances of sexual contact/intercourse, she indicated a few instances that corresponded with specific events. As mentioned above, one was on her birthday and then two weeks later. A subsequent incident corresponded with the Kitsap County Fair, occurring in August of 2012. RP 384-394. Finally she testified as to an incident that occurred around Thanksgiving in 2012, but stated it happened too many times to count when she was visiting him after the fair incident. RP 435:1-10. As noted above, her step-father testified she never stayed with him after the weekend fair.

As it relates to the sexual exploitation charge involving SMS, there was conflicting testimony as to what, if anything happened. SMS was born on June 12, 1998. RP 287:23. Thus, she would have been 14 at the time of the 2012 fair. She met Mr. Stevens thru SMN. RP 292:24. At trial SMS testified that she and SMN stayed at Mr. Stevens' parents' house the night before the fair. RP 303: 12-16. She also testified that Mr. Stevens arrived at approximately 8:00 p.m. that evening and made himself a drink. RP 304:6-24. In actuality, he was working that day and did not arrive until approximately 11:30-12:00. RP 580:19-22. His father met him and he picked up his daughter and left immediately. RP 580:23-581:10. RP 660:10-24. His testimony that he did not stay at the residence was consistent with Sean Chapman's testimony that he was at the house in the morning when Mr. Stevens arrived and they had a cigarette together. RP 196:3-23.

SMS, however, testified that after Stevens' parents went to bed, she and SMN were alone with Mr. Stevens in the living room of the residence. RP 305:3-24. Mr. Stevens went outside to smoke, followed by SMN, then SMS. RP 309:1-24. She then indicated that Mr. Stevens performed oral sex on SMN while she, at his request, kissed her. RP 310:1-25. After they returned inside she testified that he asked them to "do stuff" and SMN penetrated her with her finger while Mr. Stevens watched. RP 316:1-14. She acknowledged previously stating that he never observed anything. RP 330:15-18. It was also inconsistent with SMN's testimony wherein she stated nothing at all happened inside the residence and the only thing that happened outside with SMS was that she kissed her. RP 396:10-397:9. She further testified that Mr. Stevens never penetrated her in the backyard, but that he rubbed "his tongue on the outside of [her] vagina". RP 394:9-21. The next day (Saturday) they all went to the Kitsap County Fair. RP 398.

SMN testified that the last time there was any sexual contact was prior to Thanksgiving of 2012. RP 399:22-24. However, this was inconsistent with her step-father's testimony that she had no contact with Mr. Stevens after August. RP 189:19-29. It also diverged with Mr. Stevens' testimony that he was at a trucking school during this time period. RP 590:19-22. RP 648:16-652:9. She was consistent that whenever there was sexual contact of any kind Mr. Stevens was working at for Waste Management. RP 415:7-19. Mr. Stevens, however, only worked at Waste Management from July 7 to August 28, 2012. RP 635:3-4. This was verified by reviewing his employment records. RP 647:15-19.

Mr. Stevens denied all of the allegations. He indicated, with support from his father, that he merely stopped by the house to pick up his daughter on the night prior to the fair as it relates to this allegation. RP 657:17-660:9. He testified that the accusations occurred after having an affair with SMN's mother, which started in July 2012 and ended in August 2012. RP 629:20-633:11. As mentioned above, he testified that he only worked at Waste Management from July to August of 2012 and that he was at the trucking school from October to December of 2012.

Ultimately, he was found guilty of three counts of rape of a child in the second degree, two of which correspond with the birthday incident, but at a different time than what SMN testified. The third conviction is referenced as the fair incident. Additionally, he was found guilty of sexual exploitation of a minor, with SMS as the victim. This was based on the testimony involving the fair incident in August of 2012. Mr. Stevens appealed.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court accept review of this case because the decision is in direct conflict with other cases from the Court of Appeals, as well as decisions from this Court. Specifically, the decision upholding the exceptional sentence conflicts with this court's decision in *State v. Brush, 183 Wn.2d 550, 353 P.3d 213 (2015),* a decision not even mentioned in the Court's opinion. Additionally, the

decision allowing the state to prove its case by expanding the time frame

for the alleged act after making the strategic decision to elect directly

conflicts with this court's decisions in State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403,

411, 756 P.2d 105 (1998), State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798, 194 P.3d 212

(2002) and State v. Rhinehart, 92 Wn.2d 923, 602 P.2d 1188 (1979), State

v. Chester, 133 Wn.2d 15, 940 P. 2d 1374 (1997) and State v. Alexander

64 Wn.App 147, 822 P.2d 1250 (1990).

Thus, this Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1),

(2), and (3).

A. THE COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE CONVICTIONS BECAUSE THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE INTRODUCED TO SUPPORT A CONCLUSION THAT MR. STEVENS COMMITTED THE ACTS FOR WHICH HE WAS CONVICTED.

As this Court is aware, due process requires the state to prove its case

beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Baeza, 100 Wn.2d 487, 488, 670 P.2d 646

(1983). When challenging the sufficiency of evidence, this court must determine:

Whether, after reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

State v. Weisberg, 65 Wn.App. 721, 724, 829 P.2d 252 (1992). See also State v.

Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 616 P.2d 628 (1980); State v. Gallagher, 112 Wn.App.

601, 612, 51 P.3d 100 (2002) (citations omitted). "A defendant's claim of

insufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all

inferences that can reasonably be drawn from the evidence." 112 Wn.App. at 613

(citations omitted).

Substantial evidence must exist to support the State's case. *Id.* Substantial evidence is evidence that "would convince an unprejudiced, thinking mind of the truth of the fact to which the evidence is directed." *Id.* Thus, to convict Mr. Stevens of the three counts of child rape as alleged in counts III, IV and V, the state was required to prove that Mr. Stevens had sexual intercourse with SMN on the respective instances based on the prosecutor's decision to elect. CP 181-183. And, because the state opted to instruct the jury as to specific instances, it was incumbent on the state to present substantial evidence as to each.

B. THE COURT'S DECISION UPHOLDING THE CONVICTIONS CONFLICTS WITH <u>STATE V. CHESTER</u> AND <u>STATE V. ALEXANDER</u>.

(1) The decision ignores the testimony of the victim as to when the alleged acts occurred.

In addressing the evidence related to counts III and IV, the Court must consider the evidence in relation to the State's decision to elect specific acts to specific charges. As the Court is aware, this instruction was given over defendant's objection and further discussion resulted after the State attempted to deviate from the instruction at the beginning of its argument. Once the prosecutor chose to elect in this situation, which involved multiple acts, it was required that he prove that specific act beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 411, 756 P.2d 105 (1988)(see also State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798, 194 P.3d 212 (2008)).

SMN was adamant that any sexual intercourse related to her birthday as referenced in counts III and IV occurred when she was 11 years old, which would have formed the basis for a conviction on counts I and II. At no time did she testify that he had intercourse with her on her 12th birthday, which forms the basis for the convictions on counts III and IV. And, while she testified that all of the conduct occurred while Mr. Stevens was employed at Waste Management, the undisputed evidence was that he only worked there between July and August 2012, which was several months after SMN's birthday, which is in April. As such, the state failed to prove the elements of counts III and IV beyond a reasonable doubt and the Court should reverse the convictions. The Court of Appeals upheld the convictions because there was conflicting testimony as to the occurrence. Court's opinion at 6-7. However, the testimony from the victim was unwavering as to when it occurred, thus the decision simply ignores the only evidence that addressed the issue.

(2) There was no evidence that the petitioner engaged in sexual intercourse with SMN on the night of the fair (Count V).

Count V was characterized as the "fair incident". Mr. Stevens was charged with rape of a child in the second degree under this count. However, SMN consistently testified that there was no penetration during this time frame: thus, there was no evidence to support a conviction of child rape. Specifically, she testified in response to the prosecution that he never went inside her vagina, only rubbing his tongue on the outside. RP 394:9-15. She confirmed this on cross examination and further indicated that nothing else of a sexual nature occurred. RP 427: 9-19.

Intercourse was defined as:

...the sexual organ of the male entered and penetrated the sexual organ of the female and occurs upon any penetration, however slight or any penetration of the vagina or anus however slight, by an object, including a body part, when committed on one person by another, whether such persons are of the same or opposite sex, or any act of sexual contact between persons involving the sex organs of one person and the mouth or anus of another whether such persons are of the same or opposite sex.

CP 176 (Instruction Number 8).

As there was no evidence as to penetration and the alleged contact is vague as to specifically where the contact occurred, the Court should reverse count V, which charged Mr. Stevens of the crime of rape of a child in the second degree related to the "fair".

(3) The Court's Decision upholding the Conviction for Sexual Exploitation of a Minor conflicts with this Court's Decision in <u>State v. Chester</u>. (Count VIII).

In order to convict Mr. Stevens of the crime of Sexual Exploitation of a Minor, the state was required to prove that Mr. Stevens aided, invited, employed, authorized or caused a minor [SMS] to engage in sexually explicit conduct, knowing that such conduct would be part of a live performance. RCW 9.68A.040(1)(b); CP 196 (Instruction #28).

The testimony as it relates is entirely inconsistent between SMS and SMN. SMS testified that Mr. Stevens told the two "to do something" and she then engaged in digital penetration with SMN. Despite acknowledging that she had previously stated that Mr. Stevens was not present, she testified at trial that he was on the stairs and able to observe. Perhaps more importantly, SMN denies that there was any request "to do something" and they all simply went to bed. Under this situation, there was not enough evidence to prove the charge beyond a reasonable doubt. Specifically, in *State v. Chester*, 133 Wn.2d 15, 940 P.2d 1374 (1997), the Washington State Supreme Court held that there must be some affirmative act by the defendant to cause the minor to engage in sexually explicit conduct. As in *Chester*, none is present here. While there is some indication that Mr. Stevens requested that the two do something, there is no request that they engage in sexually explicit conduct. As such, the Court should reverse this conviction. *Cf State v. Stribling*, 164 Wn.App. 867, 267 P.3d 403 (Div. 2, 2011)(reversing conviction where there is no evidence that defendant caused the sexually explicit behavior).

Finally, while SMS changed her testimony as to Mr. Stevens' presence, there is nothing to suggest that he actually witnessed any alleged sexually explicit conduct. In fact, taking her testimony at face value, Mr. Stevens actually questioned them as to whether it happened, stating, "He came down from the stairs. He was, like—he was, like, 'So you guys did it.' And Shania answered 'Yeah.' And that's all I remember at the time." RP 316:17-19. Moreover, SMN completely denies that any sexual conduct occurred or that there was a request. The inconsistencies between her own statement, as well as the complete contradiction with SMN's testimony, compels a reversal of this count. <u>See State v</u>. *Alexander*, 64 Wn.App. 147, 822 P.2d 1250 (1990).

In *Alexander*, the Court of Appeals reversed the defendant's conviction because the alleged victim's testimony was so filled with extreme inconsistencies that the jury could not possibly have found the elements of the charge beyond a reasonable doubt. In that case, the alleged victim directly contradicted herself about whether an incident ever occurred. 64 Wn.App at 589. Her testimony also was contradicted by her mother's as it related to the time frames she was even in contact with the alleged abuser. *Id.*

C. THE COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW OF THE CONVICTIONS FOR RAPE BECAUSE THE TO CONVICT INSTRUCTIONS ERRONEOUSLY ALLOWED THE STATE TO SEEK A CONVICTION OUTSIDE OF THE ACTS CHARGED, THUS THE DECISION CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN <u>STATE V. KITCHEN</u> AND <u>STATE V. RHINEHART</u>.

"[I]t is fundamental that an accused must be informed of the charge he is to meet at trial and that he cannot be tried for an offense not charged." *State v. Rhinehart 92 Wn.2d 923,928, 602 P. 2d 1188 (1979).* In a multiple acts case, the State must either clearly elect the conduct forming the basis of each charge or the court must instruct the jury to agree on a specific criminal act. *Kier, supra,* at 811. When there is a failure to make a proper election and the trial court fails to instruct the jury on unanimity, there is constitutional error, resulting from the possibility that some of the jurors may have relied on one act or incident and some on another, resulting in a lack of unanimity on all of the elements necessary for a valid conviction. *Kitchen, supra,* at 411.

Here, the state made a proper election. However, the trial court instruction allowed the convictions for each count to be based on conduct that occurred over a two year time period. This caused confusion in the jury as was evidenced by the questions submitted during deliberations, which sought guidance as to whether it had to find a specific act related to each count. CP 163.

Notwithstanding the court's answer in the affirmative, it followed with a second question on the following day, asking the same question as to count III. CP 210.

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