RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

NO. 92909-2

Apr 18, 2016, 2:14 pm RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JEREMY THOMAS STEVENS,

Petitioner.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II Court of Appeals No. 46905-7-II Kitsap County Superior Court No. 13-1-01058-3

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

TINA R. ROBINSON Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL A. SUTTON Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

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

V. ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION BECAUSE STEVENS FAILS TO ESTABLISH THAT THE BELOW WITH **OPINION** CONFLICTS ANY ESTABLISHED PRECEDENT OR PRESENTS ANY SIGNIFICANT **OUESTION** IN NEED OF **RESOLUTION BY THIS COURT.**

1. None of the considerations governing acceptance of review set forth in RAP 13.4(b) support acceptance of review.

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the considerations governing this Court's

acceptance of review:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This Court should decline to accept review because none of these considerations supports acceptance of review. Contrary to Stevens's claim none of the holdings below conflicted with any established precedent. Nor is any significant unresolved question of law presented.

The opinion below was correct for the reasons stated in that opinion, and in the State's brief of respondent. The State will therefore primarily rely on those documents, with supplemental argument as appropriate. Because the aggravating factor instructional claim was not raised until Stevens's reply brief, and the State therefore has not had an opportunity to respond to it, it will address that claim in more detail.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that issues of conflicting testimony are for the jury to resolve.

Stevens firsts asserts that the evidence was insufficient to support his convictions on the birthday incident charges (Counts III and IV) because SN testified that the incident occurred on her 11th birthday. However, as the Court of Appeals noted, that was not the only evidence before the jury:

Here, Stevens relies on SN's testimony that the birthday and babysitting incidents occurred when she was 11 years old. However, there also was evidence that those incidents occurred when SN was 12. SN testified that she was in 6th grade when Stevens first raped her. Based on her birthdate and enrollment information, the evidence showed that SN turned 12, not 11, when she was in the 6th grade. Further, while Shannon thought that SN started babysitting for Stevens when she was 11 years old, SN's stepfather testified that SN was 12 years old when she started babysitting for Stevens. The jury could have found that SN was mistaken when she stated that the first rape occurred on her 11th birthday.

There also was evidence that the first rape occurred even later than SN's 12th birthday. SN was adamant that the first rape occurred when Stevens was living in what the witnesses referred to as the Bielmeier residence. Stevens testified that he did not move into that residence until October 2011, six months after SN's 12th birthday. SN also admitted at trial that she had stated in an interview with defense counsel that the first rape actually occurred when she was in the 7th grade.² And SN testified that the first rape occurred when Stevens worked for Waste Management, and Stevens testified that he worked there only in July and August of 2012. SN was 13 years old at that time.

•

 2 SN explained at trial that after the interview she figured out that the first rape occurred when she was in the 6th grade.

Stevens also points out that SN's testimony that the first rapes occurred when Stevens was working for Waste Management was inconsistent with her testimony that the first rape occurred on her birthday because Stevens testified that he worked for Waste Management in July and August of 2012. However, the jury could have found that SN was mistaken about the first rape occurring on her birthday or about where Stevens was working when the rapes occurred.

Stevens, Op. at 5-7.

Stevens's reliance on *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 756 P.2d 105 (1988), *abrogated on other grounds*, *In re Stockwell*, 179 Wn.2d 588, 316 P.3d 1007 (2014), is misplaced. That case stands for the now-unremarkable proposition that when "the prosecution presents evidence of several acts that could form the basis of one count charged, either the State must tell the jury which act to rely on in its deliberations or the court must instruct the jury to agree on a specific criminal act." *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 409.

First, both measures were taken here. The Court instructed the jury that to "convict the defendant on any count of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and/or Rape of a Child in the Second Degree you must unanimously agree that this specific act was proved." CP 174. Additionally the State elected in closing argument which acts it was asserting satisfied each charge. 5RP 725-26.

. •

More fundamentally, however, Stevens's contention is not at heart a "multiple acts" claim at all. He does not argue that different acts were alleged and the jurors might not have been unanimous as to which act occurred. Instead, the argument is over *when* the acts occurred. Given the conflicting evidence as to the dates (but not the acts), the Court of Appeals correctly determined that there was sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude that Stevens molested and raped SN when she was between 12 and 14 years old. Stevens fails to demonstrate any issue warranting review.

3. Testimony that Stevens "started to eat [SN] out" and "rub[bed] his tongue on the outside of [her] vagina" was sufficient to prove intercourse by oral sexual contact.

Stevens next asserts that there was insufficient evidence of intercourse with regard to the fair incident. However, SN testified that Stevens "started to eat [her] out," which she clarified meant that he "rub[bed] his tongue on the outside of [her] vagina." 3RP 393-94. As the Court of Appeals noted,

RCW 9A.44.010(1)(c) also defines sexual intercourse as oral to genital contact: "any act of sexual contact between persons involving the sex organs of one person and the mouth or anus of another."

Stevens, Op. at 7. Stevens fails to cite any authority suggesting the resolution below was incorrect. He thus fails to show that this Court

should accept review.

4. The Court of Appeals properly declined to reweigh the jury's determination of the evidence with regard to the sexual exploitation of a minor charge.

Stevens argues that the evidence did not meet the standard set forth

in *State v. Chester*, 133 Wn.2d 15, 940 P.2d 1374 (1997), with regard to the sexual exploitation of a minor charge. However, as the Court of Appeals properly found, Stevens's argument misunderstands the standard

of review:

SS testified that after Stevens engaged in oral sex with SN, he came down from his bedroom and explained that he could not sleep because he was sexually aroused. He then told SN and SS that they should "do stuff," and then watched as SN touched SS's vagina. RP at 316. He also acknowledged their behavior. This was sufficient evidence to support a finding that he invited the girls to engage in sexually explicit conduct while he watched. ...

SS's testimony provides sufficient evidence that Stevens invited SS and SN to engage in sexually explicit conduct and then watched as they did so. The jury was free to disregard SN's contrary testimony, and once again we defer to the jury's resolution of conflicting testimony. *Homan*, 181 Wn.2d at 106. Accordingly, we hold that sufficient evidence supports Stevens's conviction for sexual exploitation of a minor.

Stevens, Op. at 8-9.

Finally, Stevens's reliance on State v. Alexander, 64 Wn. App.

147, 822 P.2d 1250 (1990), is misplaced, as the Court of Appeals properly

held. Stevens, Op. at 9. Alexander was not a sufficiency of the evidence

case. Rather, the issue there was harmless error. There was improper

bolstering and improper closing argument. The Court concluded that it was unable to find that error harmless in light of the conflicting testimony. Notably it did not remand for dismissal, which would be the appropriate remedy for insufficient evidence. Instead it remanded for new trial. *Alexander*, 64 Wn. App. at 158. Stevens again fails to show any issue warranting review.

5. The State both elected specific acts and the trial court specifically instructed the jury, twice, that it needed to be unanimous as to the act of conviction.

Stevens next complains that the although the State elected the acts to which each charge related, the trial court failed to adequately instruct the jury on unanimity, allowing "the jury to convict based on anything that occurred over an extended period of time without coming to a unanimous verdict." Petition, at 17. This claim is contrary to the record.

As noted above the court specifically instructed the jury on its duty to be unanimous as to the act charged before deliberations began:

In alleging the defendant committed the crimes of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and/or Rape of a Child in the Second Degree, the State relies upon evidence regarding a single act constituting each count of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and/or Rape of a Child in the Second Degree. To convict the defendant on any count of Rape of a Child in the First Degree and/or Rape of a Child in the Second Degree you must unanimously agree that this specific act was proved.

CP 174. Then again during deliberations, the jury asked if the counts

corresponded to a specific incident or an/or date, and the court answered

yes. CP 163.

Ultimately the jury delivered verdicts acquitting on counts I and II, convicting on counts III, IV, and V, acquitting on count VI and VII, and convicting on count VIII. CP 200-02. This mixed verdict suggests that the jury was able to correctly follow the court's instructions regarding the prosecution's decision to elect specific incidents. Had the jury convicted on counts I, II, III, and IV, then it would appear rather obvious the jurors misunderstood the idea that counts I and II were alternatives to III and IV. That did not happen here. The jury also acquitted the defendant of the specific rape of a child pre-Thanksgiving incident allegation and one of three of the charges associated with the fair incident. It cannot be said on this record that the jury was improperly instructed or hopelessly confused.

The State properly elected four specific incidents and the jury was properly instructed it had to be unanimous as to each incident, fully complying with *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 411. Clearly the opinion below does not conflict with that case.²

² Stevens also alleges in his argument heading that the decision below conflicts with *State* v. *Rhinehart*, 92 Wn.2d 923, 602 P. 2d 1188 (1979). He does not elaborate on that contention. *Rhinehart* involved a State appeal from a trial court dismissal for insufficiency of the evidence. The State had charged the defendant with possession of a stolen vehicle, but the evidence showed only possession of stolen car parts. The relevance to the Stevens's case is not readily apparent.

6. Stevens invited any error relating to the definition of an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse.

Stevens argues that the trial court's instruction defining the aggravating circumstance of an ongoing pattern of sexual abuse, which was taken verbatim from WPIC 300.16, violated this Court's holding in *State v. Brush*, 183 Wn.2d 550, 353 P.3d 213 (2015).

He first faults the Court of Appeals for not addressing the issue. However, he did not raise the issue until his reply brief. The Court of Appeals was thus under no obligation to address it. *State v. Chen*, 178 Wn.2d 350, 358 n.11, 309 P.3d 410 (2013).

More importantly, Stevens requested the very instruction of which he currently complains. CP 145; 4RP 699. It is well settled that a defendant may not request an instruction at trial and then complain that it was erroneous on appeal, even if the instruction is incorrect. *State v. Studd*, 137 Wn.2d 533, 546, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999).³

Finally, even if Stevens were permitted to complain of this clearly invited error, unlike the situation in *Brush*, any error would be harmless. *See Brush*, 183 Wn.2d at 559. Here the jury's guilty verdicts are instructive as to whether this was harmless error beyond a reasonable

³ Moreover, trial counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for proposing a WPIC instruction that at the time of trial had never been held erroneous in any published opinion. *Studd*, 137 Wn.2d at 551 ("counsel can hardly be faulted for requesting a jury instruction based upon a then-unquestioned WPIC").

doubt. The jury convicted Stevens of raping SN on or about her 12th birthday on April 28, 2011, and then again approximately two weeks later and then again approximately 15 months later in August 2012. In addition to the verdicts, the jury heard testimony that the defendant had sex with her approximately 12 times per month during that time period as well as sent her sexually explicit electronic messages. RP 382, 453-55. The verdicts, in and of themselves, reflect multiple incidents over a 16-month period of time. It is difficult to see how any error here is not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt based on the particular facts of this case as determined by the jury in its verdict. This Court should decline to review an issue of invited error that was raised for the first time in a reply brief, and which would unquestionably be harmless.

*

VI. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the

Court deny Stevens's petition for review.